A Summer to Remember, The Opening of Castlerock Presbyterian
Church

Prior to the middle of the 19™" century, not much existed on the site of the modern
village of Castlerock. The name derives from a large outcrop of rock resembling a
castle and now obscured by drifting sand which used to have some prominence on
the beach just below Guysmere.

Early development of the village began with the arrival of the railway in 1853. The
railway also brought an abundance of visitors, especially on a Sunday with many of
them coming from Derry.

Northern Counties and Derry and Coleraine Railways.

EXCURSIONS

ROM DERRY and NEWTOWN"
LIMAVADY to CASTLEROCK, PORT-
STEWART, PORTRUSH and GIANTS’ CAUSE-
VAY, comnencing 1st JUNE, 15864,
Un FRIDAYS snd SATURDAYS Fust and Second Class
RETURN TICKETS will be issued from Derry and Newtown-
limavady to Castlerock, Portstewnrt and Portrush, at about
SINGLE FARES, availuble for Return up to the following
Monday Evening. Ordinary Return Tickets will be available
for Seven Days after date of Issue, A Four-horse Omnibus runs
from Portstewart Station to Portstewart. Fare—Inside, 4d;
Qutside, 2d.
CHEAYT EXCURSION TICKETS will be issued daily from
Londonderry and Newtownlimavady, available for Return on

data of jcona anle

To Castlerock and Pack—10.30 a.m., 2.45 p.m., or 5 p.m., ¢n
Week Days; 7 am. and 3 p.m., on Sundays. From Newtown-
limavady—1et Class, 1s; 2d Class, 91 ; 3d Cless, 64. From
Mgdoll.uferry‘—llt C‘lm. 23 6d: 2d Cl'\u.’ 1s 6d; 3d ‘(“_lun‘s.‘ls.

7 a.m. und 3 p.m., on Sundays. Irom Newtownlimavady—Ist
Class, 2s; 2d Class, 1s 6d ; 3d Class, 1s. From Londonderry—
Ist Class, 3s; 2d Class, 25 6d ; 3d Class, 1s 6d.

MONTHLY SUBSCRIPTION TICKETS are iseued from

Londonderry at the following Rates:—

To Castl 1st Class. 2d Class,
. 0 Uastiolook,  icivsisssnssssivesn 30s 258
1864, The NCC RaI|Way To Portstewurt or Portrush,........ 42 333

: : PRIVILEGES TO Sunscrinrns.—Members of Subseribeys’ Fami-
offers excursion tickets | yiii ‘be conveycd for H.lf-Fares on the leturn journey,

. . ﬂ during their stay will be allowed to proeeed to Londonderry
to Castlerock, including Back at single Fares.  Railway Fares paid in sclecting
uses will be returned. Children under six, Free. Parcels
on Sundays exceeding 1 cwt. per day, will only be charged a booking
of 2d per package. EDWARD J. COTTON, Manager.
r—3Belfust, May 16:h, 1864.




In 1862, concerned about desecration of the Sabbath by these “railway excursionists
and parties residing at Castlerock for the benefit of sea bathing”, the Rev W. Lyle,
Minister of First Dunboe, sought permission from Presbytery to hold services on
Sabbath evenings during the summer months. He was soon being assisted by other
members of the Coleraine Presbytery, many of whom volunteered to officiate there
in the evenings after conducting public worship in their own churches.

THE COLERAINE CHRONICLE, SATURDAY, SEPTEMBER 6, 1862.
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Open-atr Preacaixg at Casreerock.—It
may not be known to ssme of cur readers, that
| fur some time piast, Salbatli-ovening serviees
the open open air have been condneted at ( nstle-
rock by different members of the Colernine Pres-
bytery. The weather, sinve the rommencement
of the services hns been everything that conld
have been desired. The audiences have been
invariably large. Linst Sabbath evening  we
| were present at one of these services 'Tho-
weather was highly propitions. The sun-light
was flooding hill and dale. Everything around
wus fitted to impress the mind ; lh_e urmurs of
the ocean fulling upon the ear mu'mltum.uu:sl_\
with the speaker's words. It was intensely in-
teresting to see So many persnns seated upen
the green sward, and listening with rupt attention
| to the words of life. The thanks of Pr'esby.
'terians are due to our townsman—W. Warke,

Fsq., J.P., for the kindness evinced by him

since the open-air services began. The beautiful
enclosed spucz around his villa has been at their
| disposal whenerer they chose to meet ns e his

walls. It is but justice to Mr. Warke 1o +tate,
as we ean do from personal experience, thut a ter

(he services were concluded, he was no n‘@mrd

of his kindness to the ministers and other friends

who were present,




I’R]"..-{(‘Hl\'{i AT CASTLEROCK,

The Rev. Mr. Lyle asked and obtained the
sanction of the Preshytery to hold evening
meetings for publie worship at Castlerock, on
Sabhaths during the Summer, the officiating
minisicrs to be sclected from the younger
me=mbers of Presbytery.

A (Committee, consisting of the Revds. Lyle,
Canning, and Fieming, were app inted, with
power, should it be considered necessary, to de-
vise means for the ereetion of a temporary place
of worship, to accommodate the people in the
cvent of unfavourable weather precluding open
air preaching at the place.

May 1864, Rev Lyle from Dunboe
renews his request to Presbytery to
hold evening worship on Sabbaths
during the summer with younger
ministers officiating




William Warke's
house and grounds

When the open-air services commenced, we are told they were held in the
sandhills.

The entrance to the beach then was much as it is nowadays and the officiating
ministers, who would in some cases have travelled quite a distance to
Castlerock by pony and trap (not wishing to use the train on the Sabbath) would
most likely have not wanted to then journey further along the strand.

William Warke lived in Castlerock House, now renamed and the home of the
McConkey family. He was an active supporter of the services and we are told
he would on occasion, offer the use of the spacious grounds around his villa.

The visitors would in all likelihood have congregated in those areas close to the
station and the hotel and having given these matters some thought, I am inclined
to believe the open-air services took place in that area adjacent to the boundary
of Guysmere and perhaps stretching up to Circular Road through the ground
now occupied by the Golf Club which did not then exist (it was not established
until 1901)




Both local newspapers and the Committee Minutes report how attendances at these
open-air services were frequently large and encouraging. However, the weather in
those days was as unpredictable as it is now and there was much inconvenience and
disappointment when it was particularly wet and windy.

In 1864, at around the same time Rev Lyle made his further request to Presbytery, a
committee was established to investigate building a hut or wooden house. Samuel
Greer tells it was in 1867 that it was determined to attempt the building of a House
of Worship in the village.

A subscription fund was commenced, and the project given the approval of the
Presbytery of Coleraine.

CasTLEROCK,—At a visitation meeting of the Coleraine
Prcsbytgry. on 7th inst., it was resolved that_a Committee Londonderry
be appointed to take steps to effect the erection of a per- dard
manent Presbyterian place of worship in Castlerock. The Standar
following were appointed for the purpose:—Rev. Messrs. 15" Mav 1867
Macdonnell, Fleming, and Wallace, with Dr. Cavin, and y
Messrs. John Matthews, Joseph Cuthbert, Hugh Bellas,
Robert Nevin, Wm. Warke, and John Lusk, Coleraine; S.
M. Greer, and Jos. Anderson, Springvale; Peter Robertson,
Downbill; Joseph Cochrane, Quilly; Hugh Hezlett, Liffock;
Robert Wray, Quilly; Dr. Moorhead, Articlave; James
Pollock, Dunalis; James Smith, Ardeena, &c. The Pres-
bytery of Coleraine has occupied Castlerock as a preaching
station for several years, with the view of having a Presby-
terian house of worship in connection with the Presbytery
of Coleraine established there.

The General Assembly, in June 1868, recommended the care of the preaching station
at Castlerock to the Board of Missionary Directors. The Rev Lyle, who had initiated
open-air worship at Castlerock and had continued to take such an interest died in
1867. The Rev John Mark who succeeded him was not so enthusiastic and did not
take any of the evening services there.



In October 1868, the Company of Clothworkers wrote to the Presbytery agreeing to
grant a site and £100 towards costs. The proposed site however, lay at the bottom
end of Circular Road (the Committee Minutes note this as "Best's Corner,” now the
location of the Community Centre) and it did not meet with the approval of Samuel
Greer nor the Preshytery Committee. They wrote to the Clothworkers intimating
they would rather buy a site of their choosing than accept an unsuitable one
gratuitously. The Clothworkers were open to persuasion and after a further meeting
the present site at the top of the hill was agreed upon.

In the meantime, a plan and specification for the new church had been drawn up by
a surveyor, Mr Bray, to satisfy the General Assembly's Church and Manse Building
Committee. These were sent to the Clothworkers in London for approval and in
August 1869 their architect, Frederick William Porter, sent revised plans with
suggestions for improvements to Samuel McCurdy Greer. These allowed for a
chimney flue and a redesigned entrance door that did not face to the west. Porter
was an experienced architect and was very conscious the Committee of the
Castlerock Preaching Station had chosen an exposed situation and he emphasised
that more than ordinary care should be taken to secure a strong sound roof and he
hoped double walls would be employed to keep the rain from driving through.

Greer's account in the Committee Book tells us that some of Porter's plans were
taken into consideration by the Building Committee and only some parts of them
adopted, along with those of Mr Bray, to form the basis of a building contract.
Advertisements were then published seeking tenders. That of Messrs. Thornton and
Graham was accepted, with work to start before Christmas 1869 and to be completed
by 1% May 1870.  Greer describes the work as progressing vigorously but
nonetheless, the building was not completed by the agreed date.



For those unfamiliar with the history of our
church, it should be perhaps mentioned at this
stage that the tower we are now so familiar with
was not part of original building. It was added
in 1885 in memory of Samuel Greer who had
worked without stint of time or strength or
money to organize the congregation and erect
the church.

Our Church as it probably looked
in 1870. The tower was added in
1885




By June 1870, though the building work though not complete, it was deemed far
enough advanced to allow worship to take place and preparations were set in hand
for an opening date of 171" July. In the interim, two pre-opening evening services
were arranged for 3" and 10th July.

It so happened that Christchurch along Main Street was also under construction and
like its Presbyterian counterpart, nearing completion.

I would like to think that it was not a race to be first to open the doors, and rather
that it was through prior and friendly arrangement, but both churches held public
worship on the same day in July 1870. The Rev Samuel Robinson from Macosquin
preaching in the Presbyterian church, and the Rev Armstrong in the Episcopalian
church.

CHURCH EXTENSION AT CASTLE-
ROCK.

visitors. Thoqhnentherbubeou fully finish- '
od, nor formally opencd, divine service was cele-
brated in both on Sunday lwst—Rev. Bamuel |
Robinson, uin, ing in tho Presby-
terian edifice, the Rev. Mr. Armstrong of-
ficiating to a y large congregation in the
Episcopal ing. As the product of the
gmutopulonceo the subscribers to the build-

 ing of the Episcopal Chureh, it is, of eourse, the




Contemporary reports emphasised that no expense had been spared at Christchurch.
The Coleraine Chronicle on 2 July 1970 was at pains to point out however

“The Presbyterian community of the place have no reason to envy their richer
neighbours and the success of their really spirited effort aided by the princely
generosity of people at a distance. The Presbyterian Church has, we should say,
been erected to supply a real want, the urgency of which the success of Castlerock
as a Mission Station amply proved. It is of neat proportions, while the work is of a
substantial and durable character. When finished it will, as we have said, be one of
the attractions of the village — attesting at once the piety, the zeal, and the
hopefulness of those by whom it was projected and carried so near to completion.”

First Committee Minute
Book, page 323,
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Various newspapers on or around 29" June, 1870 carried reports that Rev
Samuel Robinson had conducted evening worship on Sunday evening, the use
of past tense implying Sunday 26" June.

| am inclined to believe that these reports had been placed with the press in
anticipation of events to come rather than what had already taken place.

The 3" and 10" July are given in two separate parts of the first Committee book
as being the dates when the evening, and first, services were held in the as yet
uncompleted church.




New Presnyreriay Carren ar Castierock.—This baild-
ing is now almost finished, aud Divine serviee was con-
dneted in it on Sunday evening by the Rev. Samuel Robin-
son, of Macosquin, who preached an eloquent sermon on
the oceasion. The chureh is on the Clothworkers' estate,
and the work is of a substantial character. In its untinished
state one can hardly judge of the appearance that the
building is Likely to prer-ent but we believe that it will be

made comfortable, and that it will provide for all the re-
quirements of Castlerock.
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First Committee Minute Book, p 17
Recorded by Samuel McCurdy Greer

“the 39 & 10" July respectively by the Rev R.W. Fleming & the
Rev S. Robinson

Rev Robert Fleming was minister of 1% Coleraine and Rev Samuel
Robinson, minister of Macosquin




The Formal Opening, 17t July 1870

In the week leading up to 17" July 1870,
notices were placed in local newspapers in
Coleraine and Derry
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Formal Opening

Sunday 17" July, 1870 at twelve o"clock,
noon

Rev. J.L. Porter, D.D., LL.D.
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Castienock Prespyreriax Cuvsca.—The opening ser-
vices, in connexion with the new Presbyterian Church at
Castlerock, were coundneted on Sunday last, the 17th inst.,
by tLe Rev. J. L. Porter, D.D., LL.D., Professor of T
in Dellast College. The learned Professor preached in
new church at the unoon service, and in ihe onnhgho
lectared in the Firat Pmbyhtmn Chureh, Coleraine, his
subject being ‘‘ Palestine,” of which he was able to speak
from personal exponanoo On each occasion there was a
large and most respec congregation, and De. Portor
acquitted lnmul( with hu Mmuhbtyudahqm
Tbo Castlerock Presbyterian noticed on &
former occasion, sapplies a want that 'has been long felt by
the Presbyterian visitors to that agreeable and mpmvi.u

watering- place.

The opening service was conducted by the Rev Dr Porter, Professor of Church
History, and a former Missionary to the Jews. That evening, a service was also held
at 1% Coleraine and the collections taken at both services went towards reducing the

remaining debt on the church.



The Rev R.W. Fleming had organised William Fleming, a Belfast Licentiate and
William Thompson of Ballymoney to supply preaching over the summer.

After the opening, we know from the record of Sabbath collections made that first
summer that services were held morning and evening right up to 1% October by
which time, Samuel Greer tells us, most of the visitors had gone home.
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The First Congregational Meeting
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The First Committee Meeting

On 14" August 1870, a notice
was made from the pulpit
inviting a meeting of all persons
who were connected with or
interested in Castlerock
Presbyterian Church for the
purposes of choosing some
members of Committee who
might cooperate with  the
trustees in managing the affairs
of the church. And so it was that
the first congregational meeting
took place on Tuesday 16"
August 1870, followed twelve
days later by the first Committee
meeting on August 30",

On Tuesday August, 30" 1870 at 6.30 p.m. the first meeting of the Committee was
held in the church
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There was much to discuss including the outstanding work needed to complete the
church. It still remained to finish the outside walls in cement and construct a
surrounding wall and entrance gate. Architect and legal fees had to be serviced
along with other debts.

They were an optimistic group of people though. The church had been built as a
summer preaching station and even at this first committee meeting and in spite of
their problems, their thoughts turned to the future and how they might endeavour to
establish an independent congregation.
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The Committee of the Coleraine Presbytery in charge of the Preaching Station at
Castlerock have succeeded in obtaining from the Worshipful Company of Clothworkers,
London, a suitable site for a Place of Worship, which is now vested by Fee Farm Grant,
at a nominal rent, for ever, in Robert Stevenson, William Warke, and Joseph M. Anderson,
Esqrs., as Trustees. The Clothworkers have also subscribed the liberal sum of £160
towards the Building Fund. Of this amount one-half is not to be paid till the Building is
completed.  But the Commitice have already received £50 ; and they have also to acknow-
ledge, with gratitude, a donation of £150, received from the General Assembly's Clureh
and Manse Building Fund. With the help of these generous contributions, they have been
enabled to raise the sum of £513 1s 34 towards building a neal and commodious little
Ohurch, whick will be sufficient for the accommodation of Castlerock and its visitors for
many years to come. But the contract for erecting this Church on the most economical scale
amounied to £720, and this sum is now increased lo a tolal of £795 by the addition of
some extra works, architect's fees, law and other expenses, so that when the Clothworkers’
deferred donation, and some other subscriptions not yet received, amounting to £10 or £15,
shall be paid, there will be a debt of some £220 still to be provided for. :

To meet this liability, the Committee are obliged to appeal again 1o the public to -aid
‘them in their good work. They lake this opportunity of returning their hearifelt thanks to
all who have already contributed towards the building of the Castlerock Presbyterian Church,
(of whom a list is subjoined ), as well as lo those who conlributed at the opening services,
conducted by the Rev. Dr. PORTER, of the General Assemlly’s College, Beifust, when a
welt sum of £53 11s 4d was realised. Subjoined is also given an account of the sums
already received and expended, and of the liabilities still to be met.  The Commiliee trust
that some of those under whose notice this statement may be brought will feel it their duty 1o
assist in completing the work ; and, perhaps, some who have already contributed, may te
induced to give further assistance. For so far, the enterprise has been very successful.
The Church occupies @ commanding position lowards the East of Castlerock. 1t is now
nearly quite finished ; and since it was formally opened on the 17th July last, the atlendance
has varied from 100 {o 300, or thereabouts, and all who have visiled it seem to be pleased
with its appearance and its services. :

(Signed, on behalf of the Committec),
ROBERT WALLACE, 2nd Coleraine, Chairman ;

R. W. FLEMING, 1st Colcraine, Secretary.
Goleraine, 23rd August, 1870. - -




The Clothworkers Visit

On Thursday 15" September, a deputation from the Clothworker's Company visited
Coleraine to inspect their Co Londonderry estate. They took the opportunity to drive
to Castlerock to see the annual agricultural exhibition there, and also to visit the
Presbyterian church to which they had contributed generously.

CasTLEROCE Pruspyreiaay Cnvpct.— Ou Thursday last,
the deputation from the Clothworkers' Comwpauy, now ona
visit to their Irish estate, drove to Custlerock to see the
excellent agricultural Exhibition, that day beld there. Im-
mediately on their arrival they paid a visit to the Presby-
terian church, now necarly completed, and expressed the
utmost satisfaction at its external appearauce and com-
manding site, and the beauty and neatuess of its internal
structure and arrangements. The deputation were here
waited upon by William Warke, Robert Thomson, and Jo-
seph M. Anderson, Esqrs., the trustees of the chiurch, and also
by the Rev. R. Wallace, S. M. Greer, D. Taylor, and
Joseph Cuthbert, Esqrs., members of the committee of the
Coleraine Presbytery in charge of Castlerock station, and
by R. M‘Vicker, and J. Porter, Esqrs., of Londouderry,
aud Messrs. John M‘Keeman and Heunry Perry, members
of the local committee of management. Mr. Warke read
an address to the deputation on behalf of the trustees, ac-
knowledging the generosity of the Clothworkers' Company,
in granting a free site for the church, and £100 towards
the building fund, and praying for a farther grant towards
paying off the debt of more than £200 which has been
already incurred, and raising another £100 still required to
complete the undertaking. The Master of the Company,
C. J. Bloxham, Esq., and the other members of the depu-
tation, expressed themselves highly pleased with the ap-
pearance and beauty of the church, aud promised, on their
retarn to London, to recommend a further grant in aid of
the building fund. Mr. Warke afterward- cutertained his
co-trustees, and the members of committee who supported
them, to a substantial dejeuner.




In July 1874, Castlerock was recognised as a congregation by the General Assembly
and in March 1875, the Rev William Irwin was installed as minister.




